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Formation of the historical image of Ussuriysk in the late XIX – early XX centuries

The article is devoted to the forming of Ussuriisk in XIX – XX century. There you can see the main tendencies and factors in the architecture and the city planning development. The role of Ussuriisk as the agricultural, commerce and industry and a military-administrative center is considered. Considerable attention is paid to the forming of the trade infrastructure and business center of the city. An active part in the development of the urban space and the construction of the Ussuriisk citizens, which spatial environment and development Khabarovsk assumed a regular and planned nature is discussed. The author formulates a conclusion that the shape of the city of the end of XIX – the beginning of the XX century was directly connected with the social and economic development of the region and the country as a whole.

Статья посвящена формированию облика г. Уссурийска в конце XIX – начале XX вв. В ней прослеживаются основные тенденции и факторы в развитии архитектуры и планировки города. Отмечается роль Уссурийска как сельскохозяйственного, торгово-промышленного и военно-административного центра. Значительное внимание уделено формированию торговой инфраструктуры и делового центра города. Рассматривается активное участие в освоении городского пространства и домостроении горожан, усилиями которых пространственная среда и застройка г. Уссурийска приобрели регулярный и плановый характер. Автор формулирует вывод о том, что облик города конца XIX – начала XX вв. был напрямую связан с социально-экономическим развитием региона и страны в целом.
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In the course of time many Russian cities could hardly keep the historical image which «was erased» under the pressure of public changes.
The phrase «historical image» is well-known and the standard both in the local history, and in the publicistic use. Most often it is used in the discussions on preservation of originality of the urban environment. Nevertheless, widely used expression still has no status of scientific concept. Trying to formulate phrase definition, it is logically to address to its details. «Image» is treated as «appearance, an exterior», «seen outside», «look community». The sense of the term «historical» S. I. Oghegov in his dictionary shows as «relating with the time from which the material reminders». It is possible to assume that in the broad sense the historical image of the city is the material and spatial essence formed by the eras replacing each other and reflecting its historical way.

Historical image of Ussuriisk (former Nikolskoe, Nikolsk-Ussuriyskiy) as well as the majority of Russian cities of the Far East started being formed at the end of XIX – the beginning of the XX centuries. By the beginning of the 1890th the population density of the village of Nikolskiy and its favorable position on the most important in the military and trade relation ways, allowed the settlement to become a large agricultural, industrial and military administrative center of all Southern Ussuri Territory. The city named Nikolsk-Ussuriysky was founded for «the petition of the Priamursk general governor by the prescript of the government of April 3, 1898».
The natural factors influencing the planning of an urban environment, such as a land relief, a landscape, climate conditions, a certain topographical situation were taken into account by the prince A.A. Kropotkin who created a long-term plan in 1880th.

As a section was a dominating method of building in the second half of the XIX century, the city was divided into accurate rectangular quarters which were numbered and made a geometrical grid of mutually crossed streets lines. The direction of main streets in the western part was changed from northeastern to the northern. Only the triangle formed by the first streets - Boulevard, Korsakovskaya, Bolshaya - reminded about the village planning structure. 
Step by step there appeared main squares: Hay, Market and small Cathedral in the western part of the town. The Market and Cathedral areas organized the city center, collecting the biggest part of farmers of Seaside area on annual fairs.

The homestead became the basic structural element of quarter: a house, a yard, a kitchen garden, a garden. Most houses were wooden, in rare cases – stone and other construction materials were used; walls were whitened.  Roofs were made from «usually wavy, zinced iron, at less prosperous hosts became covered by a tree, a reed or marsh herbs». In the latest cases roofs were put under a pile and their crests were filled in with clay.

By 1900 the area of the city extended up to 18384 acres and 800 fathoms; 1429 acres and 160 fathoms were occupied by the military department. Military department took place in southwest part of the city, behind the medieval landscape along which Bulvarnaya St. appeared, and formed a special town.

So, Nikolsk-Ussuriysk represented a small country town with peal, «white» estates, taverns and mud on all streets invariable for imperial Russia.
Since the beginning of the 1890th features of an industrial city began to appear more and more distinctly. «Uplift of the 90th» as historians called these years, was a reflection of that boom which was observed in Russia in the last decades the XIX century. Development of market relations, new material requirements of society and progress of construction equipment dictated the improvement of architectural constructions, changes of composition methods. Origin of new forms of public life as a result of reforms of the 1860th demanded emergence of new types of buildings, development and improvement of the old ones. 

At the end of XIX – the beginning of the XX century the department stores appeared in Russia instead of passages – the stone malls consisting of separate private shops in connected buildings. The name «department store» was used even more often to designation of trade enterprises for «cheap retail». They entirely belonged to one major trading company and one owner. An example of such buildings in Nikolsk-Ussuriisk are the department stores of the firms «Churin and Co» (1890), «Zinger and Co» (1890), shops of Ryabokon (1890), Homenko (1889). Constructed in the Russian style with classicism elements, they had spacious trading floors, huge windows and became architectural decoration of the shopping center of the city.

According to the planning decision the building of most major company of the Far East «Churin and Co», founded in 1867 Ivan Yakovlevich Churin and Nikolay Petrovich Babintsev for production of operations across Cupid differs. Department stores, mainly «of the Russian origin» were in great demand. It were «and products (confectionery, caviar, fish, vegetables), and industrial goods (ladies' and men's shoes, fashionable woolen fabrics, hats, musical instruments and even revolvers), and also products from gold and brilliants».

   One more big firm – «Kunst and Albers», trading generally foreign goods, appeared in the city. The firm also conducted building in the city, but it had a bit different character. It represented another type of the trade building which has gained distribution in Russia at the turn of the century, – trading house.

In the city there were also many Chinese shops trading both manufactured goods and grocery. They situated in brick buildings in the Timiryazev street, Kalinin Str., and around the Chinese market, «which had 79 shops».

Folk houses which looked like theatre buildings and gained the greatest distribution in Russia during the considered period belonged to the constructions of the new type.
 Having appeared at the turn of the century, Folk houses still remained very rear. The idea of construction of these houses in Nikolsk – Ussuriisk belonged to the Society of National readings with assistance of the commander of the first   Siberian army. In 1903 the petition of the society was discussed at the meeting of the city representatives. The resolution to start construction at the 33rd section (Ageev’s) which was used by  the 3rd East Siberian Shooting regiment and to deliver  a grant (1000 rubles) from the city sums was accepted.

The construction was postponed for a long time, a place for the construction was changed, and only in 1907 a nice building in modern style was built in the southwestern part of Sennaya Square.  It happened thanks to the Pyankov brothers’ donation of 100 thousand rubles. 

The architectural composition of Folk house which occupied the space in 1200 of sq. km, is perceived from various points of survey. The building was built according to the project of the Russian architect Shebalin. It became a part of historical image of the city, reflecting the level of architecture of that time.

At the end of XIX – the beginning of the XX centuries in the cities of Russia there appeared so-called Apartment houses. Apartments «to let» it were so lucrative that these houses at a turn of centuries grew «as mushrooms» in all cities.
In the Nikolsk-Ussuriisk Apartment houses of A.P. Goncharov «Grand hotel» (1907), S. K. Gurskoy (to 1914), Shvidchenko (the end of XIX in), V. N. Kozlov (1908) were built. The rent in majority of the houses was from 1 ruble 50 kopecks to 4 rubles for 1 square meter.

With the construction of Trans-Siberian railway the station building with platforms was built in the east part of the city. The first building (1891) was small and simple. The new building (1908-1910) had a big hall, a restaurant and a waiting room for the 1st class passengers, and it looked magnificent.
The structure of the station depended on the   property division of passengers which demanded separate waiting rooms for 1st, 2nd and 3rd classes. Halls for the 3rd class had smaller serving rooms, cash desks and were isolated from rooms of the 1st and 2nd classes. So the public buildings showed the class-divided Russian society.

The most outstanding building that influenced the image of the city was the Nikolsk-Ussuriysk St. Nikolay’s Cathedral (1894-1901). It was situated in the section outlined by the Unterbergerovskaya, Zanadvorovskaya, Khabarovskaya, Korsakovskaya streets. In the first half of the XIX century on this place there was «a lake which gradually dried up and then absolutely disappeared».  The price of the construction was about 200 thousand rubles, and the most part of the sum was made by «donations of parishioners». The main role in the organization of the cult construction was played by «protoiry Pavel Michurin and by the chief of the Southern Ussuriisk district A.V. Sukhanov».
This majestic building, which reached 51 m in height, harmonized with the Sacred Church of the Intercession. The church was built on public donations; it showed the level of the population amateur performance of that time.

In 1891 at the beginning of Nikolayevskaya Street an arch chapel was built in memory of the visit to the city of the Crown Prince Nikolay. Combining elements of the Russian style and the gothic style, the arch came to the end with the trapezoid tent, four many-sided peaks with the coats of arms above. Walls, tent and peaks were decorated with a brick so that construction looked like a fantastic fairy-tail house, not a chapel where once a year, on May 21st, church services were held. 

So there was a system of dominants of the city most important buildings which consisted from the tent and arch chapel peaks, Sacred Church of the Intercession, the Dome end of a vocational school and the pagoda subordinated to verticals of St. Nikolay Cathedral and the roof of the Chinese theater, and also two churches, the cemeterial and the railway churches.

The construction in Nikolsk-Ussuriisky was great, especially during the period of «a brick fever» of 1905-1913. It became possible thanks to cheap labor and the brick-works which have appeared in these years and the stone quarries near the city with a productivity up to 10000-15000 bricks per day. Among them it is worth to note the Niklevich's big plant which construction was complete in 1910 in four km from Nikolsk-Ussuriysk. The plant had a Gofman furnace, which produced up 5 million pieces of brick per year for the local use.

The main contingent of hired force consisted from Chinese who arrived to Vladivostok by steamship, and then dispersed across all Primor’e by the rail. 
By 1909 in Nikolsk-Ussuriisk up to 10230 Chinese lived that considerably exceeded the number of the other foreigners. In the city the China Town appeared in the triangle of Korsakovskaya, Unterbergerovskaya, Boulevard streets.

Thus, in the period 1890-1917 the modern image of «pre-revolutionary Ussuriisk» was finally created. It was connected with the social and economic development of the region and the country as a whole. Trading houses and the ethnic structure of their owners reflected the development of trade in the Far East. The level of the population, actively participating in the city building, was a consequence of reforms of the self-government of the second half of the XIX century.
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